

# Music Education A Sound Investment

A report commissioned by



**PREPARED BY** Dr Anita Collins Dr Rachael Dwyer Mr Aden Date Alberts is a 135-year-old family business that has played a vital role in the evolution of Australia's media and popular culture since the early days of sheet music and music publishing, through to the birth of commercial radio and television, and the founding of the Australian pop and rock music industry. Founded in 1885 by Jacques Albert, the company is now run by members of the fifth generation under the guidance of fourth-generation member Robert Albert. Alberts was a co-founder of the Australasian Performing Right Association (APRA) in 1926, introduced to protect the rights of writers, composers and publishers. The company is known for its long association with local musicians including AC/DC, The Easybeats, Stevie Wright, Harry Vanda and George Young; and more recent support of Megan Washington, Wally DeBacker and Josh Pyke. Alberts has always believed in the power of music to change lives. In 2012 members of the fifth generation established The Tony Foundation, which strives to improve the lives of young Australians through music.

#### **Dr Anita Collins**

Dr Collins is an award-winning educator, researcher and writer in the field of brain development and music learning. She is best known for her role as onscreen expert and campaign lead for the Don't Stop the Music documentary that aired on ABC TV in late 2018. She is internationally recognised for her unique work in translating the scientific research of neuroscientists and psychologists to parents, teachers and students. Dr Collins is an expert education advisor for professional orchestras, state, independent and Catholic school authorities, and Australian and international media production companies. She is also a research expert for universities, advocacy and not-forprofit organisations. A founder of the Bigger Better Brains education program, Dr Collins is a founding director of the Rewire Foundation.

#### Dr Rachael Dwyer

Dr Dwyer is an educator, researcher and advocate, who is focused on ensuring that all students have opportunities to participate in quality music and arts education as part of their schooling. She spent a number of years as a music specialist teacher in primary schools prior to commencing a career in teacher education. Dr Dwyer is co-editor of the innovative 2016 book Narrative Research in Practice: Stories from the field (Springer) and her doctoral work has been published as *Music teachers' values* and beliefs (Routledge). She sits on the editorial board for the Australian Journal of Music Education and is President of the Queensland Chapter of the Australian Society for Music Education.

#### Mr Aden Date

Mr Date is a social impact consultant who focuses on driving ambitious and innovative projects within the arts and cultural sector. He has worked with performing arts organisations, documentary filmmakers, family foundations, universities and Aboriginalled organisations. Mr Date also acted as Campaign Manager for ABC TV's *Don't Stop the Music* and runs an improvised theatre company, Only the Human.



# Table of Contents

4	Executive Summary
10	Glossary of Terms
12	Music Education in Australia
14	Research on the Benefits of Music Education
20	Best Practice in Music Education
22	National & International Perspectives
26	Summary of Best Practice
28	Situational Analysis
30	Stakeholder Overview
32	National Overview
36	State-by-State Overview
40	Barriers to the Provision of Quality Music Education
50	Key Insights and Opportunities
53	Supporting Research

# Executive Summary

## Background to the project

**The problem**: a large proportion of Australian primary school children have little or no access to music education.

**Vision**: all Australian primary school children need, and have the right to a quality, sequential and ongoing music education. This report was commissioned by The Tony Foundation to inform their vision to use music to achieve improved life outcomes for young people. Within this vision, a key goal of The Tony Foundation is to ensure all Australian primary school students receive a quality, sequential and ongoing music education. This goal is founded on the belief that music is a core, yet often missing component in a quality education program. To date, The Tony Foundation has supported music programs in schools through the Australian Children's Music Foundation and ABC TV's three-part teleseries *Don't Stop the Music*, produced by Artemis Media; Musica Viva and The Song Room. Despite the number of fantastic initiatives and organisations such as these working to deliver quality music programs, and the extensive research and evidence of the benefits, the fact remains that a large proportion of Australian primary school children have little or no access to music education. Also, in a number of marginalised schools and communities, the existence of a music program is often heavily dependent on the availability of philanthropic funding.

Given the length of time since the last comprehensive review of music education in Australia (2005), The Tony Foundation determined to fund this research to understand the current state of play, to gather evidence, and to identify barriers in the current system which prevents it from achieving the desired outcomes. It is envisaged to use this research as the foundation for further work towards achieving greater access to music education for all Australian children.

## Method of data gathering and analysis

#### Writing team

Research, data gathering and analysis

The writing team was led by neuromusical educator Dr Anita Collins, and included University of Sunshine Coast education expert Dr Rachael Dwyer, and social change consultant Mr Aden Date. Sustainability and social impact strategist Ms Emily Albert led the project for the Tony Foundation and supported the research team.

The research supporting this document was sourced from the latest education, neuroscience and psychology research. Data was gathered through the expertise of the project team and supplemented by 21 interviews with industry experts from across Australia. Their experience covered all levels (and sectors) of education, music education, music organisations, research and philanthropy. The analysis was provided by the project team with reference to their experience and feedback from the interviews.

# The benefits of a quality, sequential and ongoing music education

Practical effects (physical development/practical skills)

#### Understanding space and time

Music learning is a tool to develop spatial awareness, which in turn assists with the development of logic processing.

#### Helping attitudes, behaviours and teamwork

Music learning fosters empathy on both an emotional and cognitive level. It also promotes prosocial behaviour and effective teamwork due to the "rich opportunity to nurture positive citizenship skills [through the music ensemble experience] that includes respect, equality, sharing, cohesion, teamwork, and, above all, the enhancement of listening as a major constituent of understanding and cooperation". (p58)<sup>52</sup>

# The benefits of a quality, sequential and ongoing music education (continued)

Cognitive effects (learning development)

#### Processing sound

Music learning is a tool to train the auditory processing system to function effectively. It is for this reason that many music education methodologies begin at the age of 1 and why music learning is seen as a complementary learning activity during K-2 when children are refining their language skills and learning how to read.

#### Assigning sound to symbols

Music learning supports the process from verbal language to reading, writing and understanding language. It is for this reason research has found that musically trained children perform better in standardised tests on language; acquire language including words, syntax and prosody more effectively and earlier; and utilise language more effectively.

#### Logic processing

Music learning is a tool to train the logic and sensory structures and functions of the brain to develop in a highly effective way. It is for this reason that there are strong correlations between academic attainment and music learning.

#### Memory

Music learning encourages the development of working memory, particularly auditory working memory. This development is thought to be one of the mechanisms that assists students in processing verbal information quickly and without the need for repetition, remembering multi-step processes and independently managing busy schedules. The development of effective working memory is thought to contribute to the effective creation, storage and retrieval of other types of memories.

#### Understanding of self

Music learning improves students' confidence in their sense of self and realistic sense of their capacities and abilities. A strong and well-defined sense of self will inform students' approach to learning and management of relationships.

#### Regulation of self

Music learning assists students to control their own emotional and behaviour responses while also understanding other student, teacher and parent responses. This promotes independence in learning and the ability to remain on task and work towards set goals.

#### Healthy development

Music learning promotes healthy development by better integrating the cognitive, emotional, social and physical development of every student.

#### Social cohesion

Music learning promotes social cohesion through the experience of physiological synchronicity, tolerance of diversity and desire to seek out and value novelty and difference.

Non-cognitive effects (human development)

## Best practice in music education

The following factors are identified as core components of a quality music education. These factors have been shown to improve sound musical development and permanent cognitive enhancement. This can be seen through improved results in academic attainment, standardised testing, tertiary study, human development, and musical achievement.

### 1) Start early

A focus in high-quality music education in preschool will have profound effects on student development.

### 2 Recognise that all children are musical

Music education is as beneficial for human and cognitive development as it is for the training of expert musicians. Therefore, quality music learning is valuable for students to thrive in all subject areas.

### 3) Commit to quality music education

Both cognitive and musical development cannot occur without a commitment to quality programs, teachers and pedagogy.

## 4 Learn a complex musical instrument

Choosing a musical instrument that will provide both musical and cognitive development is important. Instruments such as complex strings, wind, brass and percussion take years to master and require consistent effort, but it is this effort that will result in positive cognitive development. Simpler instruments such as ukuleles, simple percussion and recorders are great starting or gateway instruments to the more complex instruments.

# 5 Learn music (classroom and/or instrument) over a long period of time (3-7 years)

To achieve cognitive, musical and cultural development outcomes, a music education needs to be ongoing, active, structured and sequential. One-off or short-term music experiences do not constitute a quality music education as they do not result in these outcomes on their own. However, they are an excellent complement to quality, ongoing music programs.

## 6 Maintain a high level of engagement (age appropriate level of 30 minutes to 7 hours per week during the academic year)

Music learning is a discipline and as such cognitive and musical development needs to happen over time.

### 7 Support high levels of teacher expertise

Formal qualification and professional development is imperative.

### 8) Utilise teaching pedagogy that is active, formal and structured

Including activities related to pitch, rhythm, singing, instrumental work, composition and improvisation, and reading notation.

## Barriers to the provision of quality music education

The following factors and issues were identified by the project team as the key barriers to the provision of a quality music education to all Australian primary school children. They form the basis for the key insights and opportunities which follow.

### 1) Systemic inequity

Support of music education is varied and differs across and within educational systems.

### $\left(2 ight)$ Teacher education and training

There are currently insufficient numbers of trained and/or upskilled teachers of music in all systems.

### 3 School leader education and expectations

There is a lack of access to and understanding of cutting-edge research into music education and brain development among school principals and other leaders. A deep understanding of the nature of music education provision within their schools and the opportunities this could provide is also lacking.

### (4) Australian Curriculum

Resources to inform the structure and interpretation across states/territories and systems of the Australian Curriculum requirements and benefits of music education are not available.

## 5 NAPLAN and STEM

The ability for the general public to see and compare schools via NAPLAN results (published on the MySchool website) has forced literacy and numeracy into a privileged position over all other subject areas. The impact of a STEM curriculum focus has done the same for STEM subjects and content.

### 6 Professional collaboration

There are a number of professional organisations, both not-for-profits and representative bodies, which make active representations to policy makers and politicians and deliver professional development. Although there appears to be a willingness to collaborate in the sector, to date these organisations have worked largely in their own spheres.

### $\overrightarrow{7}$ The value of music education

There is not a shared understanding of the value or place and purpose of music in every Australian child's education.

## Key insights and opportunities

The following insights and opportunities were identified by the project team and will form the basis for the recommendations and actions to follow this report.

## Locating opportunities for systemic change in the states/territories and the schools

- Interventions to effect systems change should be designed on a state-by-state basis.
- Innovation exists where a principal can demonstrate leadership and mobilise human, financial and community resources to achieve an ambitious vision.

#### From "value" to "place and purpose"

- Discussions of value and the sense that music is undervalued have dominated the discourse within the sector and defined its advocacy strategy for decades.
- Recent research provides an opportunity for a new conversation about the place and purpose of music education within a holistic education framework.

#### Collaborating for impact

- There is a shared desire within the sector to collaborate and work together on advancing music education in Australia.
- The case of South Australia and the leadership group that created the Music Education Strategy demonstrates that models of collaboration can have a large, material impact on the music education system.

#### The crisis and innovation relationship

- A shared sense of crisis inspires and propels innovation, as seen in the South Australian Music Education Strategy.
- A challenge in music education is to uncouple the relationship between crisis and innovation, enabling the system to change when it can rather than when it has to.

#### The skills cliff

- Music education in Australia may be facing a new crisis as the availability of competent and confident music educators steadily diminishes.
- This area may benefit the most from cross-sector collaboration. If we can find an opportunity to collaborate today, we will be in better shape than if we wait for a crisis tomorrow.

# Glossary of Terms

**Music education**: a broad range of activities that may include learning to play an instrument or sing, performing individually and in groups, clapping and moving, learning to read musical notation, composing music, listening and analysing music.

**High-quality music education**: the features of high-quality music education are:

- the learning is sequential and continuous, building in complexity over time, and offering opportunities for ongoing practice of skills;
- the learning is facilitated by an appropriately qualified music teacher.

**Music experiences**: one-off or infrequent experiences that may be largely passive (e.g. attending a concert). These are valuable enrichment activities but are not a substitute for high-quality music education.

**Music learning and music training**: for the purposes of this report, music learning is defined in the same way as music education but without the overlay of music education methodologies (as listed below). Music training has the same meaning as music learning but is the term favoured by the scientific research community.

**Government system education (public)**: a system of schools funded by each state/territory. While there are statewide regulations and processes, school principals have some degree of autonomy to make decisions locally.

**Catholic system education (private)**: schools that are funded by Catholic diocese and parent fees (with supplementary funding from the federal government). Catholic schools are governed by the Catholic Education Department which has federal, state and diocese-governing structures. While there are diocesan regulations and processes, school principals have some degree of autonomy to make decisions locally.

**Independent system education (private)**: schools that are primarily funded by parent fees (with supplementary funding from the federal government). School principals make decisions in conjunction with school boards.

**Neuromusical research**: this is an interdisciplinary research term that encompasses the fields of neuroscience, psychology and therapy and uses music listening, music learning and music processing as a tool to better understand how the human brain develops, heals, changes and functions.

**South Australian Music Education Strategy**: the South Australian Music Education Strategy was launched in December 2018 and is a 10-year strategy to improve the provision of music education across the state government education system in South Australia.

**Music: Count Us In**: MCUI is the education program of Music Australia and consists of an annual song that up to 600,000 Australian school children sing on the same day every year. The song is accompanied by music education resources aimed at generalist teachers. MCUI is supported by the Australian Government up until the end of 2020, funded through the Department of Education and Training.

**Instrumental music program**: a program provided by either the state department of education or diocese education department that employs specialist instrumental teachers to provide individual and ensemble music education programs to their schools. **Generalist teacher with a music specialisation**: a generalist classroom teacher who has undertaken 2-4 additional units in music education as part of their studies.

**Specialist music teacher**: a teacher who has completed substantial tertiary study in music (e.g. a bachelor's degree), and education units that are music specific.

**In-service teacher**: in-service teacher education provides learning opportunities for practising teachers.

**Pre-service teacher**: pre-service teacher education is the education and training provided to student teachers before they have undertaken any teaching.

Australian Institute for Teaching and School Leadership (AITSL): provides national leadership for the Commonwealth, state and territory governments in promoting excellence in the profession of teaching and school leadership.

Australian Professional Standards for Teachers (APST): describes the knowledge, skills and understanding expected of competent and effective teachers. Accreditation is the structure through which teachers are recognised as meeting these standards.

Australian Curriculum, Assessment and Reporting Authority (ACARA): the independent statutory body that provides advice on, and delivery of, national curriculum, assessment and reporting for all Australian education ministers. It does this through development and ongoing refinement of the Australian Curriculum, national assessment including NAPLAN, and reporting on schooling in Australia.

**NAPLAN**: the National Assessment Program – Literacy and Numeracy is a series of tests focused on basic skills that are administered annually to Australian students. These standardised tests assess students' reading, writing, language (spelling, grammar and punctuation) and numeracy and are conducted for all Australian students in grades 3, 5, 7 and 9.

## Established music learning methodologies (heavily used in early childhood and primary education)

- The Kodály approach is a highly sequential music learning method using scaffolding techniques such as rhythm syllables, rhythm and movement, sequences and notation, moveable do solfège (pitch accuracy system), and melodic sequences. It is heavily focused on singing, classroom instruments (xylophone, handheld percussion) and hand signs. In Australia, the Kodály approach is predominantly used in primary years and is considered the most extensive methodology when taught by a qualified expert. The Kodály approach is used extensively in Queensland public and private education systems.
- The **Suzuki** approach is an aural-based approach that teaches music to children aged between 3-8 years primarily through listening and copying musical phrases on a violin or piano. The method aims to create an environment for learning music which parallels the linguistic environment of acquiring a native language. In Australia, the Suzuki approach is predominantly used in early primary years group instrumental learning and moves to music notation reading after the first year.
- The Orff Schulwerk, or simply the Orff Approach, is a developmental approach used in music education. It combines music, movement, drama, and speech into lessons that are similar to a child's world of play. In Australia, the Orff approach is predominantly used in early childhood education.

# Music Education in Australia

## Introduction

Across Australia, there is a wide variation in the provision and quality of music education. It is somewhat difficult to provide a definitive account of the current or historical landscape, partly due to the sporadic national and state reporting and data collection, as well as limited nationwide research in the academic field. With these issues in mind, this report looks to provide an overview of the historical and current context of music education in Australia. This contextual overview is by no means exhaustive and is written for readers with less experience in, or understanding of, music education and broader education fields.

The 1970s and 1980s saw enormous growth in education research generally, and an increase in research, philosophy and theory specifically related to the value of learning music and the arts<sup>1</sup>. This work identified a need for an increase in the value and status of music education, providing a foundation on which to build an argument for greater time and resources to be invested in music education. However, the research that followed in the 1990s<sup>1,2,3</sup> indicated that, by and large, music was still taught inconsistently and was not considered a priority. A Senate inquiry in 1995 confirmed earlier findings that rigorous curricula needed to be developed and their implementation monitored, and that teachers needed to have appropriate levels of musical expertise.

The National Review of Music Education in 2005<sup>4</sup> reached largely the same conclusions. This review recommended the following priorities for the improvement of music education: (a) access; (b) participation and engagement for all students; (c) pre-service and in-service teacher training; (d) curriculum support services; (e) partnerships and networking; (f) leadership and resources; (g) accountability; and (h) improving the status of music education. It reported that across the sample schools, which were from all educational sectors, 66% of students received music education<sup>5</sup>. The review also highlighted differences of quality and access to music education in schools across Australia, varying between states/territories, between government and non-government schools, between primary and secondary schools, and between metropolitan and regional/ rural/remote schools. Most importantly, the considerable inequality of access to music education between state and independent schools was identified as a crisis<sup>6</sup>.

This 2005 review was significant in scale, with close to 6000 submissions, and a resultant 280-page report. Its recommendations were supported by the Howard government, but a change in Education Minister halted progress. Funding of \$500,000<sup>7</sup> was not sufficient to make substantial progress towards the ambitious undertakings laid out in the recommendations.

Since the 2005 review, little appears to have changed, and the economic rationalist agenda<sup>ii</sup> has continued to shape the landscape of education, and importantly, of teacher education. The creation of the Australian Institute for Teaching and School Leadership (AITSL) and the Australian Professional Standards for Teachers (APST)<sup>8</sup> has placed significant limitations on what is included in teacher education programs, leaving little room for anything beyond the mandated requirements. The 2005 review recommendation that primary generalist pre-service teachers receive more music education as part of their initial teacher education has not been taken up. In fact, the impact of increased regulation by AITSL and state-based teacher registration bodies has further reduced the time that is available for music in teacher preparation programs. In addition, the ability for primary pre-service teachers to specialise in music has virtually disappeared<sup>iii</sup>.

The same tendencies towards economic rationalism have shaped the school curriculum, particularly through the introduction of NAPLAN in 2008, and the Australian Curriculum which commenced development in 2009. While there is no debate that literacy and numeracy capacities are crucial for all Australian children, the introduction of NAPLAN, with the associated high stakes and very public consequences (it became the key means to compare schools and school performance) has relegated music education to a fringe subject<sup>9</sup>. This is despite the introduction of the Australian Curriculum: The Arts, which should have established a place for music within the curriculum. However, it is arguable that the grouping of music with four other arts disciplines has inevitably reduced the amount of time, value and expertise put towards quality music education for most children in Australia. As the implementation of the Australian Curriculum progresses, the same issues identified in the 2005 review (and previously) appear again - not enough teachers with appropriate levels of music expertise; the time allocated is insufficient to teach the music curriculum well; and not enough attention being paid by systems and school leaders as to how these issues might be addressed. Lastly, the data on what, how, how much and by whom music education is delivered in schools is inconsistent, so it is difficult to accurately assess the scale of the problem and develop appropriate solutions.

This report focuses on the primary school system in alignment with the evidence that this is where music education has the greatest developmental impacts. This decision was based on feedback from stakeholder interviews and the significant research base that points to the importance of high-quality music education in the primary years. Furthermore, it is much harder to offer a high-quality secondary music education when the primary-level offering is of varied quality. As such, we feel that a focus on the primary system provides the greatest potential for impact.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See the substantial work of Philip Alperson, Elliott Eisner, Maxine Greene, Howard Gardner and Bennett Reimer.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> Economic rationalism: the theory that efficiency and productivity should be the primary measures of economic success. In education, this results in a focus on things that are easily implemented and measured.

Current exceptions are the Bachelor of Education Primary (Music or Arts specialisation), Bachelor of Music Education at University of Sydney & Bachelor of Primary Education (Creative Arts) at University of Canberra.

Research on the Benefits of Music Education

## Introduction to the field

For over a century, formal research has been conducted into the nature and impact of music education for children and adults. As an art form, music is exclusive to humans and there is now a large body of research into how music education plays an important and unique role in human and societal development<sup>10</sup>. Prior to the 1990s, much of the research was based in the social sciences (i.e. education, health, and behavioural psychology) with numerous large longitudinal studies highlighting the impact of music education on child development. With the advent of new technologies (fMRI, EEG, PET) the impacts of music education were re-examined and many of the findings prior to the 1990s were both validated and expanded<sup>11</sup>. As we approach 30 years since the commencement of neuroscientific research into the impact of music education, there is a substantial and compelling research base to view music education as a tool to support cognitive and learning development for every child<sup>12</sup>.

In many ways, this field of neuroscientific research was building on the social science research. While the social science research was examining behavioural and educational changes, the neuroscience research was using music and music education as a tool to understand the human brain. Both fields use very different research instruments, procedures, protocols, questions and desired outcomes. This leads to a difficulty in comparing research findings across different studies.

While we cannot compare all research findings on the same playing field, there are now enough replicated and validated studies across the research disciplines to come to several well-supported conclusions on the impacts of music education on learning. What the field of neuroscientific, or neuromusical, research can also provide is a greater understanding of both the impact music education has on child development and how and why that development occurs.

It is recommended that the following methodological issues are considered when reading this report:

 Correlation does not equal causation – due to the varied nature of the focus of the research studies, methods they use, disciplines they stem from, age and nature of the participant groups and the nature of the interventions or experiments, correlation results are the most common findings. However, in some areas of the research into the impact of music education, the number of significant correlation findings is leading to the view that causation exists in specific areas.

- Not all music education is the same the recognised term for music education in the literature is music training. This term can refer to an incredibly broad range of musical activities, such as clapping rhythms, learning to play a violin or singing in a choir. The nature of the type, length, engagement, teacher expertise, starting age and pedagogy all have a significant impact on the benefits music education can provide to children. For the purposes of this report 'music learning' will be used as a broad term to refer to music education (as per methodologies such as the Kodály, Suzuki and Orff approaches<sup>iv</sup>) and music training (as per the interventions and experiments used in neuromusical research studies).
- The term musician was not initially consistent a common study design utilised in the neuromusical field is a comparison model between a group of musicians and non-musicians. Earlier research studies used selfreporting mechanisms to create these groups and as a result it was common to see a musician group with wide age ranges (i.e. 5-15 years) and enormously different musical experiences (i.e. 30-minute group drumming lessons per week versus 5-8 hours of private practise on a piano per week). This was one of the reasons that so many correlation findings occurred during this period of research. However, in later research studies the variables related to music learning were strictly controlled, as well as other factors such as IQ, socio-economic status, and parental education. This has resulted in research findings with statistically significant effect sizes, comparable neurological and behavioural baselines and randomised, longitudinal (3-5 year) studies yielding replicable and validated findings.

## **Research findings**

The benefits have been divided into three areas: (1) cognitive effects as they relate to how children learn; (2) practical effects which include physical development and how that impacts on learning; and, (3) non-cognitive developments as they relate to emotional, social and wellbeing development. Each section is divided into sub-sections which highlight the specific areas of benefit.

<sup>iv</sup> See Glossary of Terms for descriptions

## Cognitive effects (learning development)

Music learning is a tool to train the auditory processing system to function effectively. It is for this reason that many music education methodologies begin at the age of 1 and why music learning is seen as a complementary learning activity during K-2 when children are refining their language skills and learning how to read<sup>25</sup>.

Music learning supports the process from verbal language to reading, writing and understanding language. It is for this reason research has found that musically trained children perform better in standardised tests on language<sup>32, 33</sup>; acquire language<sup>34</sup> including words, syntax and prosody more effectively and earlier; and, utilise language more effectively<sup>35</sup>. **Processing sound** is now understood to be one of the most important areas of human development<sup>13</sup>. Our auditory processing network is the largest information gathering system<sup>14</sup>. It is the only network that is fully functional at birth<sup>15</sup> when children make sense of the world primarily through their ears<sup>16</sup>, not through their eyes. Language development is directly related to the ability to separate speech from all other noise and to consequently separate the elements of speech so that children can learn how to speak and use language<sup>17</sup>.

We now know that at birth, the human brain processes all sound as music, including language, and over the first 5 years of life develops the language centre of the brain through the music processing network<sup>18</sup>. This overlapping network is why music learning and language development have a causal relationship<sup>19</sup>. This relationship is the foundation upon which literacy skills are built<sup>20</sup>. Effective sound processing has been found to be one of the fundamental issues with delayed language acquisition and failure to meet literacy standards in children from disadvantaged backgrounds<sup>21</sup>. The inability to process sound information effectively has also been found to be a significant issue with children diagnosed with dyslexia<sup>22</sup>, ADHD<sup>23</sup> and autism<sup>24</sup> and atypical auditory processing testing is currently being explored as a marker to identify these conditions at, or even before, birth.

**Assigning sound to symbols** builds on the foundations of well-developed auditory processing skills<sup>26</sup>. Reading music and reading language are fundamentally based on the same cognitive function, known in literacy literature as the phonological loop<sup>27</sup>. This is the process where the student sees the symbol (letter or music note), hears the "brain recording" they have in their head, makes the sound with their body, hears the sound they have made and checks it with their "brain recording" and either reinforces or amends the "brain recording"<sup>28</sup>.

In terms of cognitive load, it has been found that the music symbol to sound process on a musical instrument requires more cognitive energy than the language symbol to sound process<sup>29</sup>. This is believed to be because making a note on a musical instrument requires far greater activation of the motor cortices. Consequently, when students transfer the phonological loop to reading, it uses less cognitive energy and feels easier to do<sup>30</sup>. As well as music learning being found to improve auditory processing, the requirements for students to maintain their attention, make logical sense of multisensory information and control their impulses, it helps the development of executive function skills which assist with logic-based aspects of literacy such as comprehension<sup>31</sup>. Music learning is a tool to train the logic and sensory structures and functions of the brain to develop in a highly effective way. It is for this reason that there are strong correlations between academic attainment and music learning<sup>40</sup>. **Logic processing** is a cognitive activity we often think is separate from other processes. However, the field of neuromusical research has shown that building capacity for logical thought is developed on the foundations of highly effective sensory processing. The study of musically trained children has shown that learning music, particularly through an age-appropriate musical instrument, involves consistently high levels of cognitive processing<sup>36</sup>.

To learn to play a musical instrument requires the auditory, motor and visual cortices to be synchronised and working effectively while the reward, sensory and cognitive networks are simultaneously processing information at the same time as referencing the perception, cognition and emotional networks<sup>37</sup>. No other human activity has been found to be as cognitively intensive while integrating our logic and sensory processing networks<sup>38</sup> and therefore helps a student's brain to form highly effective and flexible cognitive pathways which assist learning<sup>39</sup>.

Music learning encourages the development of working memory, particularly auditory working memory<sup>45</sup>. This development is thought to be one of the mechanisms that assists students in processing verbal information quickly and without the need for repetition, remembering multi-step processes and independently managing busy schedules. The development of effective working memory is thought to contribute to the effective creation, storage and retrieval of other types of memories<sup>46</sup>. **Memory** is fundamental to learning and is one of the most complex fields in neuroscientific research because memories are made, stored and retrieved using complex and personalised brain systems<sup>41</sup>. Musically trained people have been found to have highly developed memory systems<sup>42</sup> and thus have been rigorously studied to help us understand how memory works and how to improve it. In particular, musically trained children have been found to have a highly developed working memory system<sup>43</sup>, which is responsible for temporarily holding information available for processing. Working memory is important for reasoning, the guidance of decision-making, behaviour and therefore essential for day-to-day learning<sup>44</sup>.

## Practical effects (physical development/practical skills)

Music learning is a tool to develop spatial awareness, which in turn assists with the development of logic processing. **Understanding space and time** is known as spatial awareness or spatial skills. These skills were found to be highly developed in musically trained adults and children<sup>47</sup>. It was originally thought that the belief that musicians were also highly skilled at mathematics was mediated by advanced skills in spatial reasoning<sup>48</sup>. Interestingly, when the two skills were investigated, this connection could not be confirmed. However, musically trained children have been found to have high levels of spatial awareness, both physically and cognitively, and it is believed that this assists with their development of effective logic processing which they then apply to comprehension and some forms of mathematical reasoning (i.e. geometry).

Music learning fosters empathy on both an emotional and cognitive level. It also promotes prosocial behaviour and effective teamwork due to the "rich opportunity to nurture positive citizenship skills [through the music ensemble experience] that includes respect, equality, sharing, cohesion, teamwork, and, above all, the enhancement of listening as a major constituent of understanding and cooperation". (p.58)<sup>52</sup> **Helping attitudes, behaviours and teamwork** are a significant focus throughout schooling and are embodied in the Early Years Learning Framework and the Australian Curriculum. Musically trained children have been found to exhibit greater connection, both physiologically and behaviourally, to helping other students, acting with compassion towards others and feeling empathy<sup>49</sup>. It is believed that music learning is a tool through which we initially bond as humans (through parent and child singing and vocalisations<sup>50</sup>) as well as activating our emotional network as part of a cognitive process<sup>51</sup>.

## Non-cognitive effects (human development)

Music learning improves students' confidence in their sense of self and realistic sense of their capacities and abilities. A strong and well-defined sense of self will inform students' approach to learning and management of relationships.

Music learning assists students to control their own emotional and behaviour responses while also understanding other student, teacher and parent responses. This promotes independence in learning and the ability to remain on task and work towards set goals.

Music learning promotes healthy development by better integrating the cognitive, emotional, social and physical development of every student<sup>62</sup>. **Understanding of self** is a lifelong developmental process that is shaped significantly by the educational experience in school. Self-concept, self-esteem and self-belief are impacted by numerous factors from genetic predisposition to life and family circumstances to individual learning biographies<sup>53</sup>. A significant positive association has been found between music lessons and academic concept<sup>54</sup> as well as prevented self-esteem decline in children as they progressed through primary school<sup>55</sup>.

**Regulation of self** is also known as inhibitory control or impulse control. It is closely related to the ability to maintain attention, focus on a task and develop positive relationships with individuals, and work effectively in a team. Inhibitory control is learned through role modelling and is influenced by genetic predisposition and individual personality<sup>56</sup>. Musically trained children have been found to have high levels of inhibitory control<sup>57</sup> and this is believed to be one of the strongest executive functions to develop as a result of musical learning<sup>58</sup>. Music learning has also been used as an intervention tool to assist students who struggle with inhibitory control (e.g. those with ADD and ADHD)<sup>59</sup>.

**Healthy development** requires many factors during a student's school life. Students who experience music learning, either as a short (12 weeks) intervention or in an ongoing way (2-6 years learning an instrument) have been found to have more robust immune systems, experience less significant periods of depression or mental illness and report high levels of academic and self-satisfaction<sup>60</sup>. This aspect of music learning has been particularly impactful when working with students from disadvantaged backgrounds, students who have experienced trauma and students who have experienced academic delay due to illness<sup>61</sup>.

Music learning promotes social cohesion through the experience of physiological synchronicity, tolerance of diversity and desire to seek out and value novelty and difference. Social cohesion is a vital element of an effective and nurturing school culture and environment. Within a school, we use music to enhance social and assembly occasions and to improve student mood and wellbeing.<sup>63</sup> Music learning is both an extension of that use and entirely removed from it. Music learning is a discipline that relies on consistent and conscientious application by every individual child for the greater good of the group - in music's case, an ensemble. A musical performance is both the culmination and expression of highly developed social cohesion<sup>64</sup>. Neuromusical research has shown that this social cohesion is physiological, meaning musicians' heart beats, body temperature and galvanic skin response readings will synchronise when they are playing music<sup>65</sup>. Research has also shown that musically trained students have higher levels of tolerance for diversity and seek out novelty and difference which also promotes social cohesion<sup>66</sup>.

## Summary of research findings

Based on the research cited above and the larger fields of education, neuroscience, psychology, behavioural sciences, mathematics, and linguistics research, the relationships that can be drawn with the experience of active music learning are as outlined in the table below (adapted and updated from Hallam's 2015 literature review<sup>67</sup>). Cognitive developments are the processes and skills that are aligned with brain development in the area of thinking and learning skills. Human developments are the processes and skills that are aligned with emotional and behavioural skills. These processes and skills are of course interlinked and impact on each other. For example, increased academic confidence has been found to directly improve academic attainment.

Benefits related to cognitive development and music learning	Benefits related to human development and music learning
<ul> <li>Aural perception, which in turn supports the development of language and literacy skills</li> <li>Enhanced verbal and working memory skills</li> <li>Spatial reasoning which contributes to some elements of mathematics and measure of intelligence</li> <li>Executive function which is implicated in intelligence, academic learning and social skills</li> <li>Self-regulation which is implicated in all forms of higher order learning requiring a disciplined, consistent approach</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Motivation and re-engagement in education</li> <li>Social cohesion and inclusion</li> <li>Prosocial behaviour and teamwork</li> <li>Empathy</li> <li>Psychological wellbeing</li> <li>Self-belief, academic confidence and self-esteem</li> <li>Healthy development</li> </ul>

Academic attainment



Best Practice in Music Education



Opportunities for music learning exist from birth until well into later life. Music education can begin as early as 6 months through private organisations and institutions and continues into early childhood education. It plays a significant role in early childhood pedagogy and practice in preschools through to Year 2 and the Australian Curriculum has an expectation that every child receives music education between the years of K-6.

Quality music education, however, has in many ways become a user-pays system. It is an expectation when a student attends a Catholic or independent school that they will experience ongoing and high-quality music education. Indeed, these schools use the music program as a point of difference and marketing tool in many cases. Students at public schools will have music education experiences and these experiences, rather than high-quality music education, are seen to address the requirements of the Australian Curriculum. If they wish to engage in learning a musical instrument, then their parents will need to pay for that additional activity. Numerous private music education providers and not-for-profits, such as Musica Viva, Musical Futures and The Song Room, bridge the gap for schools. However, the majority of these are quality music experiences and not ongoing music education.

Often in public primary schools, in order to fit music education alongside the many other Australian Curriculum requirements, children will experience one art form every term. Across a school year this may look like music in term 1, drama in term 2, dance in term 3 etc. This experience will either be delivered by the generalist class teacher who will have received between 4-15 hours of music education training in their teaching degree<sup>68</sup> (keeping in mind they were likely to have had no music training themselves prior to this teacher training) or by a specialist music teacher. These decisions are often based on their own music education experience and on research that is over 20 years old<sup>69</sup>. The biggest shift in the place and purpose of music education has come from the explosion of neuroscientific research into how music learning impacts positively on brain development. As outlined in the previous research section of this report, causal and strong correlation research findings indicate that music learning improves language, literacy, reading, comprehension, aural memory, spatial and self-regulation skills, psychological wellbeing and health. In addition, students who engage in music learning perform better academically, contribute to their communities, form positive relationships and continue their education into university. They also earn more through their lives<sup>70</sup> and age better, physically and cognitively.

Countries such as Finland and Canada that continue to perform well or improve their PISA<sup>vi</sup> scores<sup>71</sup> have recognised the benefits of music education for their students. This is specifically in the areas of aural perception, which leads to improved language and literacy outcomes and social development that improve broad educational outcomes. Countries such as the United Kingdom and the United States of America have reduced their music education provision dramatically over the last 20 years and this may be one of the factors connected with their declining PISA results.

Australia continues to focus on improving literacy through more time and training on 'pure' literacy programs, which may not be yielding the desired results. Similarly, human development programs such as positive psychology can have limited impact if they are not embedded effectively into every part of the school culture. However, individual Australian schools, with well informed and supportive principals, who have made the decision to implement equitable, quality and ongoing music education programs, have seen improvements across numerous educational measures<sup>72</sup>.

v<sup>i</sup> The Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA) is a worldwide study by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development to evaluate educational systems by measuring 15-year-old school pupils' scholastic performance on mathematics, science, and reading.

National and International Perspectives Bearing in mind the aforementioned lack of a national picture of music education and the observable differences between and across states, territories and systems, below is a comparison of Australian and international approaches to music education. As there is no nationally consistent approach to music education, each state is considered separately. For international benchmarking, Finland and Canada have been chosen for their high, or significantly improving, scores in standardised tests and higher proportion of music professionals and/or community music participation in adulthood. This table examines the provision for all students in music education and may not always outline the opportunity to study music as an elective subject across most Australian school systems beyond Year 8.

#### Area: curriculum delivery

#### Australia

**Public schools**: most schools adhere to the direct interpretation of the Australian Curriculum, providing music education on an equal basis to all other arts from K-8. The common result is one hour, once a week for one term in each school year. It is widely recognised that it is impossible to reach the achievements standards in the time recommended<sup>vi</sup> by the Australian Curriculum.

**Catholic and independent schools**: most schools have a sequential, developmentally-appropriate music program including classroom (Kodály or Orff) program and instrumental learning from preschool or kindergarten onwards (strings/percussion in pre-school/K-2 and wind/brass from Year 3 onwards). This will usually involve one hour per week all year of classroom learning as well as 30-120 minutes per week all year using an instrumental program.

#### International

**Finland**: students have compulsory music education from the age of 6-12 for 2-4 hours per week. This educational experience builds on governmentsubsidised day care and preschool where music education is taught for 30-60 minutes each day<sup>73</sup>.

**Canada**: students experience music through an arts curriculum which is similar to the Australian Curriculum. The curriculum has a focus on music literacy and active music learning and is predominantly delivered in a class music format.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>vi</sup> It should be noted that the time allocation recommended for music education differs across states/territories curriculums and can then be altered further by individual school leaders.

#### Australia

**Early childhood**: most Australian children are receiving music via a generalist early childhood teacher. In K-2 this is often the responsibility of their classroom teacher. Many schools take the opportunity to pay for externally-provided music experience programs each year to satisfy their music education curriculum requirements. A smaller number of schools employ an early childhood music specialist teacher, who has a generalist education degree and has taken on additional professional development to specialise in music. There are no mandated standards to be met for this qualification so low levels of professional development are often acceptable to principals.

**Primary school**: the current requirement for generalist primary teachers is that they will be able to deliver the music education as outlined in the Australian Curriculum up to Year 6. They are also required to do this for visual arts, dance, drama and media arts. There is as little as four hours' training across their entire teacher education degree in each art form and there is no requirement to continue professional development in the Arts for in-service teachers. The result is that many generalist teachers lack the confidence and competency to teach music effectively<sup>74</sup>. Music education specialists are employed in some public primary schools and many in other education systems. Due to the lack of specialist primary education degrees, these teachers are often trained in high school education.

**Queensland**: due to the availability of ongoing, accredited professional development in recognised approaches to music learning (most notably Kodály), the number and level of music educational specialists is far higher in Queensland. It is reasonable to assume that this has been a factor in the observable high levels of musical achievement (as can be seen in the annual Creative Generation event) which has in turn maintained the higher value and perception placed on music education in schools.

#### International

**Finland**: teacher education is a widely accepted critical factor in Finland's success in education. Entry into teacher education requires very high personal education skills. Teachers have high rates of pay and are highly regarded in the community. In specialist areas such as music education the qualification requirements are even higher and thus music educators across early childhood to tertiary education have a high personal and professional level of training<sup>75</sup>.

**Canada**: music is predominantly taught by specialist trained music teachers. The level of music studied at university level is very high - double degrees with music are very common. This allows for an ongoing workforce supply for the music performance, composition, research and education industries. Canada<sup>76</sup> is also arguably the home of neuroscience and psychology research into music learning.

#### Area: equity and resourcing

#### Australia

There is a significant issue with the equitable delivery of music education to all Australian children. In the current user-pays type system for anything beyond the very basic curriculum, children from disadvantaged schools are far less likely to receive music education that is delivered by well-trained music teachers or have access to musical instruments, music education teaching resources and music experiences provided by external providers.<sup>77, 78, 79, 80</sup>

Resourcing is also a significant issue, mostly in terms of instruments. Numerous external education providers have created high-quality digital music education resources that are free to schools. However, sets of instruments for each school are in short supply as well as the required budget allocation to maintain these instruments. This type of resourcing is often ad hoc and supported as one-off contributions by philanthropists. This type of resourcing also creates issues of storage space, security and specialised instrumental teachers.

#### International

**Finland**: high-quality music education for all Finnish children is an educational and cultural expectation. As such, the resourcing of music programs has been undertaken by the government and most schools have large numbers of functioning instruments, materials and appropriate spaces for all children to access and musical role models they can look up to.

**Canada**: a similar educational and cultural expectation exists for Canada. The provision of resources is less effective, in part due to the geography and variability in philanthropic support that often goes towards the purchase of instruments. However, resourcing levels are still comparatively very high.

#### Area: perception/value

#### Australia

The value of music education for every child is still unclear across principals, parents, teachers, students and the general public. The National Review of Music Education found that 40% of respondents believed music education was not valued by the community<sup>81</sup>. If music is not highly valued this can translate to a lack of appropriately trained staff, declining time allocated to music education in curricula, lack of appropriate resourcing and designated music education and arts time being usurped for other school events.

The issues identified in the National Review of Music Education have been repeated in a number of other reviews since 2005, including the Victorian Government Inquiry in 2013 which found that "despite several comprehensive reports on music education at both the state and national level, there have been few substantive improvements to the quality and provision of school music education in Victoria over the past two decades".<sup>82</sup>

#### International

**Finland**: music education is a core subject in Finland's education system and is valued across parents, educators and policy makers. The level of music education is very high amongst the general population<sup>83</sup> and music education is well resourced in all schools.

**Canada**: music education is considered very important for every child and 94%<sup>84</sup> of sustainable and comprehensive music programs are led by music education specialists. The 2010 report highlighted that "the strongest music education programs have appropriate funding, student interest and time, a strong specialist teacher, appropriate instruments and space, as well as a supportive principal and parents". (p.2)<sup>76</sup>

# Summary of Best Practice

## Commonalities

The commonalities across music education systems that result in both sound musical development and permanent cognitive enhancement (as reflected in such measures as academic attainment, standardised testing, tertiary study, human development, and elite levels of musical achievement) are as follows:

Key message	Description
Start early	A focus on high-quality music education in preschool will have profound effects on student development.
Recognise that all children are musical	Music education is as beneficial for human and cognitive development as it is for the training of expert musicians. Therefore, quality music learning is vital for students to thrive in all subject areas.
Commit to a quality music education for every child	Both cognitive and musical development cannot occur without a commitment to quality programs, teachers and pedagogy.
Learn a complex musical instrument	Simply learning any instrument will not result in either cognitive or musical development. Ukuleles, simple percussion and recorders are great starting or gateway instruments to the more complex strings, brass and percussion. This learning is easiest and arguably most beneficial if it is commenced before the age of 7 years.
Learn music (classroom and/or instrument) over a long period of time (3-7 years)	To achieve cognitive, musical and cultural development outcomes, a music education needs to be ongoing, active, structured and sequential. One-off or short-term music experiences do not constitute a quality music education as they do not on their own result in these outcomes. They are, however, an excellent complement to quality, ongoing music programs.
Maintain high levels of engagement (age appropriate level of 30 minutes to 7 hours per week during the academic year)	Music learning is a discipline and as such cognitive and musical development needs to happen over time.
Support high levels of teacher expertise	Formal qualification and professional development is imperative and needs to be supported and encouraged.
Require teaching pedagogy that is active, formal and structured	Activities should include pitch, rhythm, singing, instrumental work, composition and improvisation, reading notation, group work and performance.



# Situational Analysis



## Context and methodology

As discussed previously, comprehensive data is not available as to the extent and quality of music education delivery in Australia. There have been no major nationwide studies conducted since the National Review of Music Education in 2005. There is even less data available on how music education is promoted, funded, and delivered. The purpose of the situational analysis was to supplement and contemporise what little public research is available about the state of music education in Australia.

The research team identified two to three individuals from each state or territory with knowledge particular to that state or territory and five individuals from nationwide music education providers to participate in short, semi-structured interviews. Interviewees came from schools, universities, government, professional associations, and non-profit organisations. The interviewees were selected based on having insight into some aspect of the music education system in their state, region or sector. Twenty-one interviews were conducted over a period of two weeks.

## Stakeholder overview

The following page contains an overview of the many stakeholders involved in the provision of music education in Australia. It is included to provide context for the national and state-by-state overviews as well as the situational analysis. It does not include all stakeholders in some sections as these are too numerous to list for the purposes of this report.

## How to read this section

The national overview section covers what is happening to promote and deliver music education within and outside the various school systems. The school systems examined include the government system, the independent system, and the Catholic system which together educate most Australian children. This section also looks at how regional and remote schools fare in comparison to metropolitan schools. The national section looks at the university sector and the external providers within the sector which together provide a variety of functions within the music education system. Finally, the **state-by-state overview** provides insight as to how each state and territory differs from the national picture.

The situational analysis concentrates on the primary school system, which is the focus of this report.

# Stakeholder Overview



This report has referenced multiple stakeholders and their influence on the broader provision of music education in the Australian context. As a point of reference, the below diagram outlines the various stakeholder entities and key positions or influencing bodies. This is by no means a comprehensive list but is intended to give an overview of the stakeholders.





## School systems

Government system: interviewees described public school music education offerings as "patchy," and "ad hoc," with significant variance in the quality and extent of what is being offered. This observation was made of every Australian state and territory except Queensland. Interviewees supported the contention that this is largely attributable to the economic rationalisation of education in Australia and the prioritisation of literacy and numeracy under NAPLAN. Although the Australian Curriculum has recommendations of indicative time that should be allocated to each subject area, there have been no federal mandates for time dedicated to individual learning areas. States/territories have also delegated significant budgetary and decision-making requirements to individual principals. As a result, the level of provision of music education in any given school depends primarily on the principal.

Further, when the provision of music education is driven by the requirement to implement the Australian Curriculum, the focus may be on compliance rather than quality. Several interviewees said that many schools just "check the box," and do so through a variety of approaches. Common examples include classroom music delivered by generalist teachers who lack the confidence and competence necessary to teach music; intermittent music experiences provided by external non-profit providers; and selective co-curricular music education<sup>vii</sup>. The approach taken often reflects whatever resources happen to be on hand. One interviewee reported a case where a teacher had students dancing and singing along to videos on YouTube to "check the box," for both music and dance.

Within the government system, principals have significant sway over what is implemented in their school. Where principals value music education and have committed significant time and energy there are high quality, continuous, sequential and developmental programs. These programs require a mass mobilisation of all aspects of how the school operates-principals must work to align school improvement plans, professional learning budgets, timetables, capital expenditure, and parental engagement. However, many of the best government programs require families to make contributions for instruments and/or cocurricular experiences. High-quality programs must also still meet Australian Curriculum requirements for other arts subjects, a task approached creatively by music teachersfor example, by teaching drama and music through musical theatre, or by combining music and dance with body percussion. One interviewee described high-performing

schools as "lighthouses," meaning schools that serve as models of leadership and mentors to other schools, and a frequent refrain was that these sorts of results are possible within the current system.

Schools utilise a mixture of in-house primary music specialists, generalist classroom teachers, and external specialists to deliver music education. Historically, highquality music programs have been delivered by schoolemployed primary music specialists (often supported by external instrumental specialists and/or musical experiences) who may or may not work with the classroom teacher. This is beginning to change in every Australian state except Queensland. The current trend is towards leaning more on the classroom teacher, who typically lacks the capacity and confidence to deliver a quality music education. External specialists may be involved, but they lack the oversight and continuity to deliver a quality music education. Good outcomes are possible where specialists are employed to mentor classroom teachers. However, even in these circumstances there is still a need for instrumental specialists in the later primary years.

Every Australian state except Victoria also supplements primary classroom music with a selective instrumental music program for middle-primary students (typically Years 3 to 6). These are partly government funded but require supplements by a user-pays system. Instrumental music educators typically deliver group or individual music tuition and provide ensemble experiences. These programs are rarely for all students and are most effective when they align with and supplement a classroom music education. The same can be said for government-supported music experiences and competitions like Music Australia's *Count Us In* and programs delivered by external providers (see page 35).

Independent system: most independent schools provide a high quality, sequential, continuous and developmental music education which typically involves 60-90 minutes of instruction each week throughout every year of primary school. This education is usually delivered by primary music specialists and supplemented with meaningful music experiences. However, several interviewees felt that some independent schools may be delivering a lowerquality music education than others, where the principal sees the brand value but not the educational value, or where the small size of the school impacts the resources available to and required by them. This is more likely in smaller, lower- and moderate-fee private schools which may only be able to employ a single music specialist. The

vii Music education delivered outside classroom hours by private music education providers that require students to pass an audition and pay annual fees to attend e.g. Melbourne Youth Orchestras Program independent school offering is stronger in states/territories where the government offering is also high-quality, such as Queensland. One interviewee suggested that government schools serve as a minimum standard which independent schools must exceed—therefore a good level of government provision benefits all children in that state.

Catholic system: broadly, the Catholic system tracks the government system in terms of the average quality of provision, though with a wider and more variable distribution. The importance of singing in the liturgy means that some music takes place in all Catholic schools, though it may not constitute a sequential music education. Drivers such as household income and parental expectations tend to have a greater influence than in government schools. As with government systems, the variability of the offering depends significantly on the principal. Catholic schools are also impacted by leadership decisions at the diocese level and the resources available to the school which can be more closely linked with the school size. In general, interviewees reported that their understanding of the Catholic system was lacking in comparison to independent and government systems. Some interviewees attributed this to the tendency for teachers and professionals within the Catholic system to be less engaged with the broader music education sector.

**Regional and remote:** schools in large regional centres typically have a quality of provision comparable to capital cities, but the quality starts to decline in smaller regional and remote towns. Regional and remote schools suffer several challenges that make the provision of a high-quality music education difficult. This includes high staff turnover, fewer music specialists, fewer professional development opportunities, and weaker communities of practice. There are many freely available curricular resources for regional and remote schools, but these are no replacement for qualified and committed educators and physical resources. However, there are pockets where music education thrives. As with government "lighthouses," such as McDowall State School in Brisbane that provides an extensive instrumental music program for every student, these schools owe their success to principal leadership but are additionally supported by external providers and a culture of musicmaking in the broader community. One interviewee described these schools as residing within "musical towns".viii

## Non-school systems (universities and external organisations)

Universities: universities continue to have responsibility for pre-service music teacher training around Australia. There is no formal designation for what constitutes a primary music specialist outside of Queensland<sup>ix</sup> so a classroom music teacher can have any one of several pre-service experiences. Most university education departments are supplementing their traditional four-year, self-contained teaching degrees with a two-year Masters of Teaching (MTeach) program which requires a bachelor's degree in any discipline. Under the influence of state-based teacher registration boards and the national Australian Professional Standards for Teachers, the amount of music education training that can be delivered during the MTeach is very low<sup>x</sup>. One interviewee said that the MTeach provides "just enough music education training to put the fear into [the pre-service teachers]".

Interviewees without much experience in the university system attributed the lack of music education training to the university sector itself, whereas university staff tend to direct blame towards registration boards, accreditation authorities and a cultural bias for STEM subjects. No interviewees felt they had a solid grasp on how registration boards determine what universities should teach. One interviewee described it as part of the "dark arts".

Under the current system, the closest approximation to a primary music specialist would be a student who undertakes a Bachelor of Music (BMus) and several Arts education units as part of their MTeach. However, several factors inhibit this student's ability to become a competent primary music teacher. Firstly, Bachelor of Music degrees are predominantly focused on performance rather than music teaching. Secondly, conservatoria and education departments rarely collaborate to improve pathways for BMus students to matriculate into MTeach programs. Thirdly, universities rarely collaborate with professional development associations who provide in-service teacher training. Finally, there is no system-wide understanding as to what outcomes are desirable for graduate primary music teachers-even amongst the interviewees there was significant disagreement as to what an ideal outcome may look like. Some advocate for better-trained generalists

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>wiii</sup> Mildura, for example, has a highly supportive network of community music organisations, schools and instrumental music instructors which serve to benefit local students.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> A "Primary Music Specialist," is a teacher designated by the relevant state-based teacher registration board to deliver music education. In contrast, a "Primary Music Specialisation," is a University designation and indicates where a student has undertaken additional unit(s) in music education as part of their degree. A "Primary Music Specialisation," doesn't designate a teacher a "Primary Music Specialist," and the terms, standards and availability of these designations are heterogenous, varying between universities and states/territories.

<sup>\*</sup> Typically 1 or 2 (of 8) units focused on Creativity or the Arts, in which Music will share space with other Arts in the Australian Curriculum.

(one interviewee commented that "the horse has bolted", suggesting the era of primary music specialists is over), others for a return to primary music specialist training, and a few for a new category of cross-disciplinary Arts specialists.

Numerous interviewees argued that the pre-service teacher training experience was one of the biggest faults in the music education system in Australia. Very few well-trained primary music teaching graduates are being produced, and several interviewees independently speculated that there may be a significant skills shortage in approximately 10 years.

**External providers**: the external organisation landscape is broad and difficult to categorise, with multiple responsibilities and functions across the sector. These include providing music experiences, in-service teacher training, associational life, sector advocacy, and pedagogical framework advocacy. Several interviewees described much of their work as a "Band-Aid" fix. However, external organisations are generally held in high regard and there is a sense of camaraderie—if not collaboration—between them.

The first group of organisations are professional associations-these include Kodály Australia, the Orff Schulwerk Movement, and the Australian Society for Music Educators (ASME). These organisations provide a mixture of associational life for music educators and in-service teacher training. Kodály and Orff centre their offerings around their respective music education pedagogies, whereas ASME does not advance any singular pedagogy. It was noted that 20 or 30 years ago much of what is now offered by professional associations was provided internally by education departments, mirroring the move from in-service music specialists to external specialists in schools. The high level of discretion exercised by principals also means that these professional learning providers must compete with one another, as well as with generic whole-school professional learning opportunities. However, these organisations do find their professional learning opportunities well subscribed and attribute this to generalists feeling ill-equipped to teach music. All these organisations are structured as non-profits and funded through member dues and private donations.

The second group of organisations centres around providing professional learning experiences. Under the National Mentoring Program, founded by the late Richard Gill, primary music specialists provide in-classroom mentoring to generalist teachers tasked with delivering classroom music. The program operates in New South Wales, Victoria, South Australia and Tasmania and is funded jointly by the federal Department of Education and individual participating state education departments. In some circumstances the state departments pass this cost on to individual schools. The National Mentoring Program functions to bridge the generational skills gap emerging as a result of the reduction in pre-service teacher training in music education. Finally, the not-for-profit Musical Futures is also a provider of professional learning with a focus on student-centred learning.

The third group includes large, national organisations which tend to do a broad mixture of professional learning, music experience delivery, music education and advocacy. These include Musica Viva, The Song Room, and the Australian Children's Music Foundation. These organisations are heterogenous in their models but tend to focus on highly disadvantaged schools and individuals, and they provide both music experiences and music education. However, the latter is normally dependent on external funding so will range from only 3-6 months through to multiple years. Their models sometimes contain an element of user-pays for wealthier schools which cross-subsidises schools unable to pay. Some of these organisations operate on a mixed income model in that they draw on government grants, government contracts, philanthropic income, and trade-based revenue to sustain a variety of commercial and philanthropic activities. These organisations tend to acknowledge their own limitations, the necessity of systemic change and express a willingness to play a role in changing the system.

Within the third group are the subset of professional orchestras such as the Sydney Symphony Orchestra (SSO), Melbourne Symphony Orchestra (MSO) and the West Australian Symphony Orchestra (WASO). Although these large organisations are focused primarily on music performance, they typically have a dedicated education officer who facilitates a small number of performances by the orchestra each year that are designated as educational. The performances usually work on a user-pays system with a small fee per child for the performance. These performances are usually aimed at providing children with a powerful musical experience and are usually conducted in the orchestra's regular concert hall. This allows for children to have an early and meaningful experience of a professional performance venue. Some of the orchestras also provide teaching notes and materials for the repertoire that is performed and in some cases these include music education activities fit for a one-term program.

A few trends are worth noting across the external sector. Firstly, there is growing enthusiasm for the mentorship model of professional learning—expressed in the National Mentoring Program, The Song Room's DUET program, and Musica Viva's residency program. Secondly, there is a recognition that interventions should be long-term and focused on changing the whole school system wherever possible. Thirdly, there is a desire for more joint advocacy and long-term thinking in the sector.

# State-by-State Overview
## Overview

Differences in the quality and spread of music education provision by state and territory are dominated by three key factors:

- History historically, individual states and territories had more control over their educational priorities. High-performing states/territories typically owe their performance to ministerial decisions made decades ago before the current era of economic and bureaucratic rationalism.
- Australian Curriculum adoption state departments of education have a lot of control over how they implement the Australian Curriculum. Typically, smaller states and territories have adopted it more quickly than larger ones.
- Political leadership decisions made at a ministerial level can and do still have a significant impact on music education. The exploration of music education in each state or territory is essentially about how political leaders have maintained, augmented or diminished historical legacies in the context of nationwide economic and bureaucratic rationalisation.

The below provides a high-level snapshot of current practices across states and territories.

## **New South Wales**



## Victoria



New South Wales (NSW) is still operating off its own curriculum, which is regarded by practitioners within the state as more conducive to quality, sequential music education than many other state curricula. The NSW K-6 curriculum elevates visual arts and music above dance and drama and excludes media arts entirely. Music is also mandated in the 7-10 curriculum, giving it additional continuity beyond primary school. The latest iteration of the curriculum, though not yet approved by the Minister, is regarded by non-musically trained or experienced principals as something which makes music education legible and accessible. The new curriculum has created a sense of optimism that music may be better understood and valued in New South Wales in the future. New South Wales also has an active regional conservatorium network, which continues to have a positive impact on the provision of music in regional communities. The NSW Department of Education is currently reviewing its arts curriculum with the view to release an enhanced syllabus. This is significant as the NSW music curriculum has not undergone a significant revision since the implementation of the Australian Curriculum in 2015.

Interviewees offered a variety of opinions on the state of music education in Victoria (VIC), which appears to be in a period of transition following a Victorian parliamentary inquiry in 2013. A favourable political climate has occasioned several funding initiatives in the last few years, including \$2m in funding for professional learning and school-based grants for instrument purchases. However, these efforts are still small and non-systemic in comparison to funding commitments made in South Australia and Queensland. One interviewee highlighted that Victoria had half as many students doing Year 12 Music as New South Wales but was unsure why this disparity was so great. Several interviewees commented that Victorian independent schools offer particularly exceptional music education programs.

## Queensland



### Western Australia



#### South Australia



Queensland has been regarded for many years as the crown jewel in delivering music education in Australia. It is both high quality and a known quantity - an interviewee estimated that around 85-90% of Queensland government schools have a primary music specialist, with the remainder being very small schools (usually less than 30 students) with only one or two teachers. Its state-wide Instrumental Music Program recently expanded with an additional \$14.4m in funding over the next three years. The Australian Curriculum presents a potential challenge to the quality and scope of music education in Queensland, as decisions are made about how the other four subjects in The Arts learning area are implemented. Interviewees argued that Queensland can maintain its position if it is creative about addressing the Australian Curriculum, Assessment and Reporting Authority's (ACARA's) requirements.

In Western Australia (WA), primary schools can choose to focus on a single performance art (music, drama or dance) and a single visual art. This provides a hedge against the Australian Curriculum's regard of all the arts as equal and provides an opportunity for more musical schools in WA. The WA Instrumental Music Program reaches nearly half the schools in the state and has the expectation that the program will build on a solid foundation of classroom music. It is speculated that the expectations placed by the instrumental program on schools serves to raise the standard of classroom music in WA government schools. Unfortunately, the program's reach is poor outside Perth and large regional centres.

South Australia (SA) is in a period of significant transition following the announcement in December 2018 of a 10- year statewide music education strategy. Interviewees highlighted that the strategy was a response to a self-identified crisis in the quality of music education and a cross-sector recognition that improvement was urgently needed if Adelaide was to retain its reputation as a musical city. The crisis provided a rare opportunity for system-wide collaboration with nonprofits, universities, conservatoriums and government coming together to discuss how to improve the situation. Interviewees expressed optimism at the development of a strategy and an accompanying sense of urgency, but also cautioned that its full impacts will take a while to be felt. The strategy identified four key issues:

- the value of music education needs to be articulated and understood.
- music education should be a continuum.
- connections between people and supports in music education are critical.
- music education should recognise and respond to barriers to children achieving success<sup>xi</sup>.

Within these four key issues, they identified the areas of focus to be priorities, systems, resources, and places and people.

xii https://www.education.sa.gov.au/sites/default/files/2019-2029-musiceducation-strategy.pdf

#### Tasmania



Tasmania is a surprising success story in Australian music education, with primary music specialists across almost all schools in the state. Interviewees attributed this to a statewide culture amongst principals of valuing music rather than any ministerial legacy. However, the state does face some challenges. There is a lack of consistency in what is being offered as there is no designation for primary music specialists, no coherent and agreed approach to music pedagogy, and no curricular framework beyond the Australian Curriculum. There are concerns that burnout and a lack of new music specialists being produced will erode Tasmania's standing in music education in the long-term.

## Australian Capital Territory



#### **Northern Territory**



The Australian Capital Territory (ACT) is like NSW and VIC in terms of the quality and spread of provision across the different school systems, with one interviewee estimating that around 15-20% of government schools have a primary music specialist. However, government service provision differs from the bigger states in two ways. Firstly, the ACT has no regional and remote schools to contend with, which arguably lessens the burden on resourcing of music teachers to schools. Secondly, Canberra has a "green belt," of inner-city, well-established government schools which are established in high socioeconomic areas. Many of these schools mimic the culture and provision of nearby independent schools and have high-quality music programs supplemented by voluntary contributions from parents.

The Northern Territory (NT) is a unique case in the provision of music education in Australia, facing statewide challenges like those encountered by regional towns. These include teacher turnover, a lack of access to professional development opportunities, and a weak community of practice. Where Tasmania and the ACT benefit from their small size with a tight-knit community of practitioners, teachers in the NT were described as "petrified" to share their expertise within a community. All regional schools are serviced by the NT Instrumental Music Program and an interactive TV program.

## Barriers to the Provision of Quality Music Education

## Introduction

Music education in Australia has been consistently described as patchy and inequitable. Depending on which state, educational system, geographical region and school a student attends, they will more than likely receive a different amount, duration and quality of music education. This uneven provision would not be an issue if music education only benefited those students who were interested or talented in music. However, as highlighted in the *Research on the benefits of music education* section, the benefits of music education in terms of a child's academic achievement, as well as their personal and social development, points to the need to reconsider the place and purpose of music education in every Australian child's education.

As highlighted in this report, music education in Australia has been reviewed and recommendations offered numerous times over the last two decades. In most cases, the issues have remained largely the same and the recommendations have not varied significantly. In looking again at this aspect of the provision of music education in Australia, the project team has taken into account the historical context, the emerging themes from the interviews and situational analysis, and their own extensive experience in the field.

The project team identified seven factors impacting the provision of high-quality music education in Australia. These factors are discussed in further detail in this section and fall under the following areas:

- 1. Systemic inequity
- 2. Teacher education and training
- 3. School leader education and expectations
- 4. Australian Curriculum
- 5. NAPLAN and STEM
- 6. Professional collaboration
- 7. The value of music education

## Identified factors impacting the provision of music education in Australia

The provision of music education in Australia is impacted by multiple, interlinked factors. Music education, whether it be delivered as classroom music or through an instrumental program, requires musical equipment, trained teachers, appropriate space, appropriate time within the curriculum, a sequential curriculum across multiple school years, proactive school leadership and parental support. As a consequence of these multiple human and resource issues, launching and maintaining a music education program that delivers quality, sequential and ongoing music education is a complex task with many factors at play. However, when these factors are managed successfully a robust music program across a school can have significant impacts on academic achievement, behaviour management and school culture.

To begin to identify the factors currently impacting the provision of music education in Australia, the project team reviewed the situational analysis data for themes and compared these with their significant experience in the field. We categorised these themes as either being barriers to systems change, enablers of best practice within the current system, or leverage points to transform the system. This list is by no means exhaustive but serves as a way of outlining the complexity of the situation. It also provides a means to examine these factors in light of: updates as a result of changing government education requirements and focus; the introduction of NAPLAN and the Australian Curriculum; and the lived experience of Australian schooling and education since the last significant review in 2005.

## 1 Systemic inequity

Support of music education is varied and differs across and within educational systems.

Music education is generally highly regarded in independent schools and seen as an expected part of the student experience. This regard is supported by high levels of funding, facilities and expectations of performance. In Catholic schools, music education is more varied and, in some schools, can be seen as supportive of the liturgical life of the school rather than a pursuit in its own right. This mixed purpose often sees the music program highly regarded but lacking in educational value. In the government school system, music education is also varied but far fewer students receive a quality, sequential and ongoing music education. This is influenced by all of the factors outlined below.

#### Barriers

- a. Lack of a shared understanding of the place and purpose of music education in every Australian child's education.
- b. View by some schools of music education for its brand value to a school, rather than its educational benefits.
- c. Disproportionate taxpayer subsidies to well resourced, high fee-paying schools exacerbate inequalities.
- a. "Beacon" or "lighthouse" schools across states/territories and systems which have made the educational choice to provide music education in more than just the required or minimal ways provide the evidence base for what can be achieved.
- b. Where government provision of music education is high, independent and Catholic schools also benefit.
- c. There is growing public awareness around systemic inequalities in the provision of education.
- d. The relative independence of state-level Departments of Education provides an opportunity for individual states/ territories to demonstrate leadership in music education provision.
- e. State-based Diocesan Catholic Education Offices and individual diocese can provide systemic leadership to improve provision in Catholic schools within their community.

# 2 Teacher education and training

There are currently insufficient numbers of trained and/or upskilled teachers of music in all systems.

The lack of appropriately trained specialist teachers to deliver music education to every Australian child has been identified in every review and by all interview participants. Music programs cannot happen without confident and competent teachers. This requirement has been impacted by two factors: (1) changes in pre-service teacher training requirements which expect generalist class teachers to teach the entire arts curriculum with only 4-16 hours of music education training across their degree; and (2) the ageing population of teachers trained as music education specialists. A number of interviewees commented on the fact that we are on a skills cliff that will see Australia run out of specialist music educators within the next decade if we do not act immediately.

#### Barriers

- a. Not enough appropriately trained/qualified teachers in the Australian education landscape.
- b. Lack of a shared vision within the music education community on what an appropriate level of music education training should be.
- c. Increased requirements and regulation of preservice teacher education reducing time for music and the arts.
- d. Lack of system capacity for varied and innovative training pathways (e.g. pre-service programs in universities and/or certifications from professional bodies) and training timings (pre-service or in-service, mandatory or voluntary).
- Professional organisations (e.g. Musica Viva, Sydney Symphony Orchestra's TunedUp program, Kodály Australia etc) are providing high-quality and well subscribed professional learning for in-service teachers.

- Active and growing numbers of professional organisations (e.g. Kodály Australia, Orff Schulwerk Associations) who represent different methodologies/ avenues to music education around Australia.
- c. Public awareness of the lack of teacher preparation in music education is in the national spotlight due to ABC TV's *Don't Stop the Music* documentary and instrument donation campaign, and statewide approaches to the problem such as the South Australian Music Education Strategy and significant funding for professional learning in VIC and QLD. This action has been largely observed in the government school system.

# 3 School leader education and expectations

The lack of access to, and understanding of, cutting-edge research into music education and brain development among school principals and other leaders. A deep understanding of the nature of music education provision within their schools and the opportunities this could provide is also lacking. School leaders (principals or heads of school) have more autonomy than they have ever had before to lead their schools. This autonomy mostly exists around the allocation of funds towards programs they believe their students need and the overwhelming number of choices now available can be challenging for a principal to manage. With this financial autonomy also comes arguably greater levels of accountability. Increased autonomy of school leadership has the potential for significant impact on music education, as school leaders are now more empowered than ever to build and sustain, or indeed dismantle, music education in their schools. For this reason, education of school leaders about the evidenced benefits of music education for cognitive development is an important area of need. As part of this education, there also needs to be support and expectation management of how to implement a quality, sequential, ongoing music education program and what to expect along the way.

#### Barriers

- a. Lack of access to the research on the benefits of music education, both cognitive and social, in formats that they can understand and act upon.
- b. Lack of support to plan for, implement and grow their music programs.
- c. Lack of knowledge on how to evaluate the outcomes of their music programs.

- a. School leaders at "beacon" or "lighthouse" schools across all states/territories and education systems that have already implemented and enhanced their music program can be mentors for other school leaders.
- b. ABC TV's *Don't Stop the Music* series raised awareness and created a range of resources for schools and school communities to assist them to assess music programs.
- c. Increased interest from principals' organisations and national education conferences in featuring music education and the associated research in their 2020 programs.

## 4 Australian Curriculum

Resources to inform the structure and interpretation across states/territories and systems of the Australian Curriculum requirements and benefits of music education are not available. The introduction of the Australian Curriculum has had a profound effect on all arts (visual, media, dance, drama and music) education. This impact has two distinct factors: the requirement for "equal" allocation of the five arts across the school year; and the raising of expectations within each curriculum for achievement. Essentially, the equation can be boiled down to "expect the students to perform at a higher level in less timee". Full implementation of the curriculum requires adequate time and requires approaches to timetabling to be considered in light of best practice pedagogy within the individual discipline. For example, visual arts benefits from longer stretches of time due to the resource and clean-up requirements; studentdriven "project" work in media, arts or drama benefits from intensive periods of learning; and the full benefits of music learning require continuous and sequential class time. A singular approach across the art forms e.g. learning one artform per school term on a rotation basis, while solving logistical issues, has a negative impact on learning. In particular for music, the gap between the learning periods negates any cognitive benefits that could be achieved through the continual study.

#### Barriers

- a. Lack of understanding of the need for a sequential and ongoing music program throughout the school year.
- b. Higher expectations for student achievement with less allocated time.
- c. Lack of knowledge on how to evaluate the outcomes of music programs.
- "Beacon" or "lighthouse" schools in every Australian state and across educational systems which are providing a quality, sequential and ongoing music education for their students, and are satisfying all requirements of the Australian Curriculum in the arts are exemplars of good practice and can mentor others.
- b. Innovative, research-informed and committed school leaders exist within the abovementioned schools.
- c. Proven models of the provision of music education already exist and can be showcased, learned from and scaled up.

## 5 NAPLAN and STEM

The visibility and comparability of schools via NAPLAN and its publicly available data has forced literacy and numeracy into a privileged position over all other subject areas. The impact of a STEM curriculum focus has done the same for STEM subjects and content. Standardised testing in the form of NAPLAN has had several explicit and implicit impacts on music education. This is an area of significant and ongoing debate but since the introduction of NAPLAN the literacy and numeracy skills of Australian children has not markedly improved and in some cases it has declined which, after 10 years of implementation, is not yielding all of the results it was expected to promote. The impact of a focus on literacy and numeracy and the introduction of a high stakes and publicly-reported test has meant that all other areas of learning in primary schools have very much taken a back seat.

Australian education discourse currently places a high value on literacy, numeracy and STEM and students' educational experiences reflect these priorities. The project team is not arguing for the relative importance of subjects, we are examining this focus in light of the research that indicates that a quality, sequential and ongoing music education could have significant impacts on the overall development of every Australian child. This research suggests that we need a new conversation on the place and purpose of music education in Australia.

#### Barriers

- a. Intense focus on literacy and numeracy skills development has, in a number of schools, come at the expense of other learning tools and activities.
- b. Purposeful focus on STEM has further marginalised the arts and other learning needed for the holistic development of a child.

- a. Implementation of STEAM (as above but including the Arts) in many schools.
- International discourse and best practice are shifting towards an appreciation of the value of creativity, making and other innovative pedagogies in delivering a 21st century education.

## 6 Professional collaboration

Although there appears to be a willingness to collaborate in the sector, to date not-for-profit organisations and representative bodies have worked largely in their own spheres. There are a number of professional organisations, both not-for-profits (such as The Song Room) and representative bodies (such as Music Australia), who are making active representations to policy makers and politicians and delivering professional development. These organisations are working largely in their own spheres and there exists both opportunity and willingness for collaboration in the future. The collective energy of these groups could be harnessed to impact many of the factors that impede the provision of music education in Australia.

#### Barriers

- a. A lack of collaboration between organisations due to incentive structures.
- B. Government, membership and philanthropic funding prioritises business as usual or minor innovations in service delivery over collaborating to promote systems change.
- c. Lack of a shared or agreed upon vision for music education in Australia.
- a. New commitment to approaches by many organisations to find a new model for collaboration.

# 7 The value of music education

There is not currently a shared understanding of the value or place and purpose of music education in every Australian child's education. The word 'value' is used frequently when examining the factors that impact on the provision of music education. This is true in the National Review of Music Education, the South Australian Music Education Strategy and in numerous academic studies. The project team found that the definition of this value is not shared across the interviewees. The project team also felt that the word 'value' itself may be problematic as it implies that some subjects have more worth than others. This lack of alignment in understanding may well make this the most difficult factor to quantify, however it is agreed that it is one of the most impactful factors. Another way to think of this factor may be understanding the place and purpose of music education in the education of every Australian child. We prefer the term 'place and purpose' as it provides an opportunity to consider what specific role music education must play in a holistic educational framework, particularly in light of the benefits we now know it has for cognitive and musical development. 'Place and purpose,' shifts the conversation away from the extent to which music education is valued towards the nature of its value.

#### Barriers

- a. Lack of a shared understanding among the general public, school leaders, educational policy makers, state and federal politicians and students - despite the large body of educational and scientific research - of the place and purpose of music education in the education of every Australian child.
- b. Use of the term 'value' in discourse within the music education sector without a common understanding or definition of what this means.

#### Enablers/Leverage points

- a. Interest from philanthropic bodies in systemic change in music education in Australia.
- b. Recognition of the need for equitable provision of music education by the SA Government.
- c. Prominent figures in the music education community are seeking to update and challenge the concept of value as it pertains to the provision of music education for every Australian child.
- d. Building on the momentum that currently exists to launch a national campaign to change public and education opinion. Advance the conversation from 'value' to 'place and purpose'.
- e. Recent research suggests that music education has a unique place and purpose in a holistic education.

### Summary of the current factors and issues

Essentially, the barriers to quality, sequential and ongoing music education for every Australian child include the lack of qualified teachers, necessary resources, depth and currency of understanding, and competing educational expectations. However, there are numerous schools across all Australian states/territories and educational systems which continue to break the barriers and deliver meaningful music education to every child in their community. This shows that where there is the will (often from the school leader), and the means (often from multiple funding and policy directives), a solution to this complex, multi-layered problem is indeed possible.

To summarise, the contributing factors that impact on the equitable and sustainable delivery of quality, sequential and ongoing music education are highlighted on the following page. We have included the corresponding or alternate findings from the National Review of Music Education for comparison and historical reference. It should be noted that neither the Australian Curriculum nor NAPLAN had been developed or implemented at the time of the National Review of Music Education.

## Summary of factors impacting equitable music education

Music Education: a Sound Investment (2019)		National Review of Music Education report (2005) Observations and Recommendations <b>Priorities</b>	
1.	<b>Systemic inequity</b> – access to quality music education across all states/ territories and education systems	Action is needed	
2.	<b>Teacher education and training</b> – need for sufficient numbers of trained and/or upskilled teachers in all systems	<ul> <li>Quality teaching is key</li> <li>Effective teacher education is essential</li> </ul>	Priority to improve teacher pre- service and in-service education
3.	School leader education and expectations – need for access to and understanding of cutting-edge research into music education and brain development and an evolving understanding of the nature of music education provision within their school and the opportunities this provides	<ul> <li>Students miss out on effective music education</li> </ul>	Priority to improve the equity of access, participation and engagement in school music for all students Priority to improve music education in schools through supportive principals and school leadership
4.	Australian Curriculum - need for resources to inform the structure and interpretation across states/territories and systems of the Australian Curriculum requirements and the benefits of music education	NOTE: The Australian Curriculum was not developed at the time of the NRME and therefore was not taken into consideration. There was a national educational framework but not a curriculum.	Priority to improve curriculum support services
5.	NAPLAN and STEM - the impact of NAPLAN which is high stakes and has publicly available data has forced literacy and numeracy into a privileged position over all other subject areas. The impact of a STEM curriculum focus has done the same for STEM subjects and content. The developmental benefits of music education should be understood to complement all learning, including the STEM subjects	<ul> <li>Raising the status of music in schools will improve the quality of music in schools</li> </ul>	Priority to support productive partnerships and networking
6.	<b>Professional collaboration</b> – need for ongoing and robust collaboration between professional music education providers around Australia to support school capacity building	• The partners in effective music education need to take leadership and action roles	
7.	<b>The value of music education</b> – need for a shared understanding of the place and purpose of music education in every Australian child's education	<ul> <li>Music education is valuable and essential for all Australian school students</li> <li>Raising the status of music in schools will improve the quality of music in schools</li> </ul>	

# Key Insights and Opportunities

## Music education in Australia

Music education in Australia continues to be inequitable, highly variable and in many cases undervalued and poorly understood. This understanding persists despite several national reviews and a compelling body of evidence which reveals the significant cognitive and developmental impacts of a high-quality music education. In parallel to this emerging body of research, the Australian federal government has undertaken an agenda of economic and bureaucratic rationalisation which has led to the creation of federal bodies such as AITSL, ACARA and NAPLAN. These federal bodies manage the contours of the sector indirectly through standards and practices which inform teacher training, curriculum content and school funding. These federal bodies emerged from and reinforce a discourse in Australian education which prioritises literacy, numeracy and STEM over other subjects.

The result of these multiple, overlapping forces is the current, ironic situation: just as we have become most aware of the profound benefits of a quality music education we are most unable to provide it to all Australian children.

Independent schools and large Catholic schools which have greater per-student funding and freedom continue to value music and this is believed to contribute to the sustainable delivery of exceptional music programs. Government schools, various Catholic schools, and regional and remote schools are falling behind. The result is a user-pays system in which music education is regarded as a privilege rather than a right.

Despite the difficulties involved in delivering a high-quality music education, individual principals in government schools who have a demonstrated commitment to music education have managed to buck the trend. These "lighthouse" schools demonstrate the possibility of innovation and leadership within the current system. In a similar vein, due to the relative independence of states and territories in curriculum content decisions and teacher standards, some Australian states are delivering a better music education than others. Queensland is an example of a historically successful state, and South Australia is a contemporary example of a state showing innovation and leadership within the broader national system.

Within the music education sector there is a shared recognition and a desire for an Australia in which every Australian child receives a high-quality, sequential and ongoing music education. However the sector lacks a shared sense of how we might achieve that vision. Individuals within the system also have differing opinions as to what is possible and achievable within the system. There are currently few forums or opportunities for different actors within the sector to collaborate and work together on shared outcomes. The South Australian Music Education Strategy highlights the value and potential of these collaborations.

In summary, the current music education system in Australia is failing to deliver a high-quality music education for every Australian child. New research challenges us to revisit this vision and to develop new approaches to make the system legible and responsive to creative interventions. Our initial efforts to map the contours of this system have focused on teacher education and training, the value of music education, the Australian Curriculum, professional collaboration, NAPLAN and STEM, school leader education and expectations, and systemic inequity. Within each of these areas we have observed barriers to change, enablers of best practice and leverage points that we feel could tip the system into a new state.

In addition to supporting the existing body of evidence around the state of music education in Australia, our research and discussions have identified several key insights and opportunities which provide an aperture for further investigation and action. These insights are by no means exhaustive and have required us to omit many other insights which also have merit and value. We welcome a critical reading of the report which may identify other insights and opportunities.

The project team is optimistic that a more comprehensive provision of music education is possible, one in which every Australian child has access to a high-quality music education.

## Summary of key insights

## Locating opportunities for systemic change in the states/territories and the schools

Despite the significant influence of national bodies on the ability of states/territories and schools to deliver a high-quality music education, these organisations and frameworks allow for some scope of local decisionmaking. The project team has identified that there may be opportunities for systemic change at the level of the school and the state/territory as well as living models in "lighthouse" schools around Australia. At the state level, the key players appear to be senior government education officials and education ministers. State-based Teacher Registration Boards working within the national AITSL frameworks may also have a role to play. This kind of systems change is dependent on the election cycle and a favourable political climate can provide opportunities for bold change at a state level. Therefore, interventions to effect systems change should be designed on a state-by-state basis. For the Catholic system, it is also possible that state- and dioceselevel innovations can promote systems change.

In schools, innovation exists where a principal can demonstrate leadership and mobilise human, financial and community resources to realise an ambitious vision. The success of this model has already been demonstrated through existing programs run by the non-profit sector, and attention has been drawn to the success of Challis Community Primary in Western Australia through ABC TV and Artemis Media's *Don't Stop the Music* series.

#### From "value" to "place and purpose"

Discussions of value and the sense that music is undervalued have dominated the discussions within the music education sector and defined its advocacy strategy for decades. New research provides an opportunity for a new conversation about the place and purpose of music education within a holistic education framework. Importantly, **place and purpose** provides an opportunity for specificity in how we communicate the importance of music education and suggests the possibility of a new narrative for the sector.

#### Collaborating for impact

There is a shared desire within the sector to collaborate and work together on advancing music education in Australia. Professional associations and large non-profits acknowledge their limitations within the current system and recognise that desired changes cannot come from business as usual, or even from increased funding into their existing operations. There are also numerous smaller non-profits that are contributing to the provision of music education, although not always in a sustainable way, in regional and Indigenous communities. The case of South Australia and the leadership group, which included music industry, education department, philanthropists and philanthropic bodies, elected ministers and education experts, demonstrate that models of collaboration can have a large, material impact on the music education system.

#### The crisis and innovation relationship

An additional insight emerging from the South Australian experience is the relationship between crisis and innovation. Although the South Australian Music Education Strategy demonstrates the possibility of real systems change, the conditions for collaboration were described as a "crisis," by interviewees. A challenge for future music education advocacy efforts will be to uncouple the relationship between crisis and innovation, enabling the system to change when it can rather than when it has to.

#### The skills cliff

Acknowledging the above there is, however, one crisis looming for music education in Australia which needs urgent addressing. This is the predicted continuing decline in the availability of competent and confident music educators within schools in the next decade as a result of changes to the provision of teacher training in the university sector. The impact of this may be 10 or more years away but will tip the system into a new state whereby a lack of qualified educators will hinder even the most ambitious policy agenda. This is probably the most complex problem identified by the project team, requiring large-scale changes across most organisations and sectors. This area may benefit the most from cross-sector collaboration. If we can find an opportunity to collaborate today, we will be in better shape than if we wait for a crisis tomorrow.

# Supporting research

<sup>1</sup> Russell-Bowie, D. E. (1993). Policy and practice in music education in New South Wales state primary schools. Unpublished PhD thesis, University of Wollongong.

<sup>2</sup> Lepherd, L. (1994). Music education in international perspective: Australia . Toowoomba, Queensland: USQ Press in association with Faculty of Arts, University of Southern Queensland.

<sup>3</sup> Jeanneret, N. (1994). Teaching music K-6: Confidence and the preservice primary teacher. Proceedings of the 16th Annual Conference of the Australian Music Education Lecturers Association, Melbourne , pp. 78-91.

<sup>4</sup> Pascoe, R., Leong, S., MacCallum, J., Mackinlay, E., Marsh, K., Smith, B., ... & Winterton, A. (2005). National review of school music education: Augmenting the diminished.

<sup>5</sup> Pascoe, R., Leong, S., MacCallum, J., Mackinlay, E., Marsh, K., Smith, B., ... & Winterton, A. (2005). National review of school music education: Augmenting the diminished.

<sup>6</sup> Letts, R. (2007). Thus far, with the National Review of School Music Education. Retrieved from http://musicinaustralia.org.au/index.php?title=Thus\_ far,\_with\_the\_National\_Review\_of\_School\_Music\_Education#cite\_note-7

<sup>7</sup> National Music Workshop Communiqué. (2007, Winter). Music in action: For Australian Educators. Retrieved from http://music-ed.net/music-in-action/ index\_htm\_files/MiA\_2007\_5-1.pdf

<sup>8</sup> Gill, R. (2018). The Making of a Teacher: Why NAPLAN is not Good Enough for Us. Journal of Professional Learning, Semester 1, https://cpl.asn.au/journal/ semester-1-2018/the-making-of-a-teacher-why-naplan-is-not-good-enoughfor-us

<sup>9</sup> Gill, R. (2018). The Making of a Teacher: Why NAPLAN is not Good Enough for Us. Journal of Professional Learning, Semester 1, https://cpl.asn.au/journal/ semester-1-2018/the-making-of-a-teacher-why-naplan-is-not-good-enoughfor-us

<sup>10</sup> Dewey, J., & Simon, H. F. (1989). 1934: Art as Experience. Southern Illinois University Press.

<sup>11</sup> Reimer, B. (2009). Seeking the significance of music education: Essays and reflections. R&L Education.

<sup>12</sup> Hallam, S. (2015). The Power of Music: a research synthesis of the impact of actively making music on the intellectual, social and personal development of children and young people. *London, Ed.* 

<sup>13</sup> Levitin, D. J. (2006). *This is your brain on music: The science of a human obsession.* Penguin.

<sup>14</sup> Kraus, N., & Chandrasekaran, B. (2010). Music training for the development of auditory skills. *Nature reviews neuroscience*, *11*(8), 599.

<sup>15</sup> Perani, D., Saccuman, M. C., Scifo, P., Spada, D., Andreolli, G., Rovelli, R., ... & Koelsch, S. (2010). Functional specializations for music processing in the human newborn brain. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 107(10), 4758-4763.

<sup>16</sup> Strait, D. L., & Kraus, N. (2011). Can you hear me now? Musical training shapes functional brain networks for selective auditory attention and hearing speech in noise. *Frontiers in psychology, 2,* 113.

<sup>17</sup> Parbery-Clark, A., Skoe, E., Lam, C., & Kraus, N. (2009). Musician enhancement for speech-in-noise. *Ear and hearing*, 30(6), 653-661.

<sup>18</sup> Koelsch, S. (2011). Toward a neural basis of music perception-a review and updated model. *Frontiers in psychology*, 2, 110. <sup>19</sup> Hallam, S. (2015). The Power of Music: a research synthesis of the impact of actively making music on the intellectual, social and personal development of children and young people. *London, Ed.* 

<sup>20</sup> Tierney, A., Krizman, J., Skoe, E., Johnston, K., & Kraus, N. (2013). High school music classes enhance the neural processing of speech. *Frontiers in psychology*, *4*, 855.

<sup>21</sup> Kraus, N., Hornickel, J., Strait, D. L., Slater, J., & Thompson, E. (2014). Engagement in community music classes sparks neuroplasticity and language development in children from disadvantaged backgrounds. *Frontiers in psychology*, *5*, 1403.

<sup>22</sup> Virtala, P., & Partanen, E. (2018). Can very early music interventions promote at-risk infants' development?. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*.

<sup>23</sup> Puyjarinet, F., Bégel, V., Lopez, R., Dellacherie, D., & Dalla Bella, S. (2017). Children and adults with Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder cannot move to the beat. *Scientific reports*, 7(1), 11550.

<sup>24</sup> Lim, H. A. (2010). Effect of "developmental speech and language training through music" on speech production in children with autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of music therapy*, 47(1), 2-26.

<sup>25</sup> Hansen, D., Bernstorf, E., & Stuber, G. M. (2014). The music and literacy connection. Rowman & Littlefield.

<sup>26</sup> Ahissar, M., Protopapas, A., Reid, M., & Merzenich, M. M. (2000). Auditory processing parallels reading abilities in adults. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 97(12), 6832-6837.

<sup>27</sup> Slater, J., Strait, D. L., Skoe, E., O'Connell, S., Thompson, E., & Kraus, N. (2014). Longitudinal effects of group music instruction on literacy skills in low-income children. *PLoS One*, 9(11), e113383.

<sup>28</sup> Altenmüller, E., & Furuya, S. (2017). Apollos Gift and Curse: Making Music as a model for Adaptive and Maladaptive Plasticity. e-Neuroforum, 23(2), 57-75.

<sup>29</sup> Patscheke, H., Degé, F., & Schwarzer, G. (2016). The effects of training in music and phonological skills on phonological awareness in 4-to 6-year-old children of immigrant families. *Frontiers in psychology*, *7*, 1647.

<sup>30</sup> Dittinger, E., Chobert, J., Ziegler, J. C., & Besson, M. (2017). Fast brain plasticity during word learning in musically-trained children. *Frontiers in human neuroscience*, *11*, 233.

<sup>31</sup> Corrigall, K. A., & Trainor, L. J. (2011). Associations between length of music training and reading skills in children. *Music Perception: An Interdisciplinary Journal, 29*(2), 147-155.

<sup>32</sup> Caldwell, B., & Vaughan, T. (2011). Transforming education through the arts. Routledge.

<sup>33</sup> Fitzpatrick, K. R. (2006). The effect of instrumental music participation and socioeconomic status on Ohio fourth-, sixth-, and ninth-grade proficiency test performance. *Journal of Research in Music Education*, *54*(1), 73-84.

<sup>34</sup> Jentschke, S., & Koelsch, S. (2009). Musical training modulates the development of syntax processing in children. Neuroimage, 47, 735–744.

<sup>35</sup> Patel, A. D. (2008). *Music, language, and the brain*. New York: Oxford University Press.

<sup>36</sup> Slater, J., Azem, A., Nicol, T., Swedenborg, B., & Kraus, N. (2017). Variations on the theme of musical expertise: cognitive and sensory processing in percussionists, vocalists and non-musicians. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 45(7), 952-963.

<sup>37</sup> Altenmüller, E., & Furuya, S. (2017). Apollos Gift and Curse: Making Music as a model for Adaptive and Maladaptive Plasticity. e-*Neuroforum, 23*(2), 57-75.

A

<sup>38</sup> Habibi, A., Damasio, A., Ilari, B., Elliott Sachs, M., & Damasio, H. (2018). Music training and child development: a review of recent findings from a longitudinal study. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*.

<sup>39</sup> Degé, F., Kubicek, C., & Schwarzer, G. (2011). Music lessons and intelligence: A relation mediated by executive functions. *Music Perception: An Interdisciplinary Journal*, 29(2), 195-201.

<sup>40</sup> Schellenberg, E. G. (2004). Music lessons enhance IQ. *Psychological science*, *15*(8), 511-514.

<sup>41</sup> Jäncke, L. (2008). Music, memory and emotion. Journal of biology, 7(6), 21.

<sup>42</sup> Roden, I., Kreutz, G., & Bongard, S. (2012). Effects of a school-based instrumental music program on verbal and visual memory in primary school children: a longitudinal study. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, *6*, 572.

<sup>43</sup> Strait, D., & Kraus, N. (2011). Playing music for a smarter ear: cognitive, perceptual and neurobiological evidence. *Music Perception: An Interdisciplinary Journal, 29*(2), 133-146.

<sup>44</sup> Ranganath, C., Cohen, M. X., & Brozinsky, C. J. (2005). Working memory maintenance contributes to long-term memory formation: neural and behavioral evidence. *Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience*, *17*(7), 994-1010.

<sup>45</sup> Strait, D. L., Kraus, N., Parbery-Clark, A., & Ashley, R. (2010). Musical experience shapes top-down auditory mechanisms: evidence from masking and auditory attention performance. *Hearing research*, 261(1-2), 22-29.

<sup>46</sup> Parbery-Clark, A., Strait, D. L., Anderson, S., Hittner, E., & Kraus, N. (2011). Musical experience and the aging auditory system: implications for cognitive abilities and hearing speech in noise. *PloS one*, *6*(5), e18082.

<sup>47</sup> Hetland, L. (2000). Learning to make music enhances spatial reasoning. *Journal of aesthetic education, 34*(3/4), 179-238.

<sup>48</sup> Patston, L. L., & Tippett, L. J. (2011). The effect of background music on cognitive performance in musicians and nonmusicians. *Music Perception: An Interdisciplinary Journal, 29*(2), 173-183.

<sup>49</sup> Cross, I., Laurence, F., & Rabinowitch, T. C. (2012). Empathy and creativity in group musical practices: Towards a concept of empathic creativity. In *The Oxford Handbook of Music Education, Volume 2.* 

<sup>50</sup> Nakata, T., & Trehub, S. E. (2004). Infants' responsiveness to maternal speech and singing. *Infant Behavior and Development*, 27(4), 455-464.

<sup>51</sup> Altenmüller, E., & Furuya, S. (2017). Apollos Gift and Curse: Making Music as a model for Adaptive and Maladaptive Plasticity. *e-Neuroforum, 23*(2), 57-75.

<sup>52</sup> Majno, M. (2012). From the model of El Sistema in Venezuela to current applications: learning and integration through collective music education. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, *1252*(1), 56-64.

<sup>53</sup> Altenmüller, E (2003). How many music centres are in the brain? In Peretz, I., & Zatorre, R. J. (Eds.), *The cognitive neuroscience of music* (pp 346-356). Oxford University Press.

<sup>54</sup> Degé, F., Wehrum, S., Stark, R., & Schwarzer, G. (2014). Music lessons and academic self-concept in 12-to 14-year-old children. *Musicae Scientiae*, 18(2), 203-215.

<sup>55</sup> Rickard, N. S., Appelman, P., James, R., Murphy, F., Gill, A., & Bambrick, C. (2013). Orchestrating life skills: The effect of increased school-based music classes on children's social competence and self-esteem. *International Journal* of *Music Education*, *31*(3), 292-309.

<sup>56</sup> Hallam, S. (2015). The Power of Music: a research synthesis of the impact of actively making music on the intellectual, social and personal development of children and young people. *London, Ed.* 

<sup>57</sup> Slater, J., Azem, A., Nicol, T., Swedenborg, B., & Kraus, N. (2017). Variations on the theme of musical expertise: cognitive and sensory processing in percussionists, vocalists and non-musicians. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 45(7), 952-963.

<sup>58</sup> Degé, F., Kubicek, C., & Schwarzer, G. (2011). Music lessons and intelligence: A relation mediated by executive functions. *Music Perception: An Interdisciplinary Journal, 29*(2), 195-201.

<sup>59</sup> Jackson, N. A. (2003). A survey of music therapy methods and their role in the treatment of early elementary school children with ADHD. *Journal of Music Therapy, 40*(4), 302-323.

<sup>60</sup> MacDonald, R., Kreutz, G., & Mitchell, L. (Eds.). (2013). Music, health, and wellbeing. Oxford University Press. <sup>61</sup> Hendon, C., & Bohon, L. M. (2008). Hospitalized children's mood differences during play and music therapy. *Child: care, health and development, 34*(2), 141-144.

<sup>62</sup> Beck, R. J., Cesario, T. C., Yousefi, A., & Enamoto, H. (2000). Choral singing, performance perception, and immune system changes in salivary immunoglobulin A and cortisol. *Music Perception: An Interdisciplinary Journal, 18*(1), 87-106.

<sup>63</sup> Sloboda, J. A. (1985). The musical mind: The cognitive psychology of music. Oxford University Press.

<sup>64</sup> Hove, M. J., & Risen, J. L. (2009). It's all in the timing: Interpersonal synchrony increases affiliation. *Social Cognition*, 27(6), 949-960.

<sup>65</sup> Cross, I. (2009). The nature of music and its evolution. *The Oxford handbook of music psychology*, 3-13.

<sup>66</sup> Eerola, P. S., & Eerola, T. (2014). Extended music education enhances the quality of school life. *Music Education Research*, 16(1), 88-104.

<sup>67</sup> Hallam, S. (2015). The Power of Music: a research synthesis of the impact of actively making music on the intellectual, social and personal development of children and young people. *London, Ed.* 

<sup>68</sup> Hocking, R. (2009). National audit of music discipline and music education mandatory content within pre-service generalist primary teacher education courses. *Canberra: Music Council Australia. Retrieved February, 6*, 2010.

<sup>69</sup> Pascoe, R., Leong, S., MacCallum, J., Mackinlay, E., Marsh, K., Smith, B., ... & Winterton, A. (2005). National review of school music education: Augmenting the diminished.

<sup>70</sup> TAFURI, J. (2008). Infant Musicality: New Research for Educators and Parents. Society for Education, Music and Psychology Research-SEMPRE.

<sup>71</sup> OECD (2016), *PISA 2015 Results (Volume I): Excellence and Equity in Education*, PISA, OECD Publishing, Paris, https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264266490-en.

<sup>72</sup> Vaughan, T., Harris, J., & Caldwell, B. (2011). Bridging the gap in school achievement through the arts: Summary report.

<sup>73</sup> https://musicaustralia.org.au/2017/06/finlands-music-education-systemhow-it-works/

<sup>74</sup> Collins, A. (2016). Generalist Pre-Service Teacher Education, Self-Efficacy and Arts Education: An Impossible Expectation?. *International Journal of Education & the Arts*, 17(26).

<sup>75</sup> http://musicinaustralia.org.au/index.php?title=Primary\_School\_Music\_ Education\_in\_Finland

<sup>76</sup> A Delicate Balance: Music Education in Canadian Schools (2010). Report prepared for the Coalition for Music Education in Canada by by Hill Strategies Research, Canada

<sup>77</sup> Parliament, V. (2013). INQUIRY INTO THE EXTENT, BENEFITS AND POTENTIAL OF MUSIC EDUCATION IN VICTORIAN SCHOOLS.

<sup>78</sup> Pascoe, R., Leong, S., MacCallum, J., Mackinlay, E., Marsh, K., Smith, B., ... & Winterton, A. (2005). National review of school music education: Augmenting the diminished.

<sup>79</sup> Hocking, R. (2009). National audit of music discipline and music education mandatory content within pre-service generalist primary teacher education courses. *Canberra: Music Council Australia. Retrieved February, 6*, 2010.

<sup>80</sup> Making the progression [electronic resource] : report of the National Music Workshop 27-28 August 2006 / Australian Music Association

<sup>81</sup> Pascoe, R., Leong, S., MacCallum, J., Mackinlay, E., Marsh, K., Smith, B., ... & Winterton, A. (2005). National review of school music education: Augmenting the diminished.

<sup>82</sup> Parliament, V. (2013). INQUIRY INTO THE EXTENT, BENEFITS AND POTENTIAL OF MUSIC EDUCATION IN VICTORIAN SCHOOLS.

<sup>83</sup> Henriksson-Macaulay, L. (2014). *The music miracle: The scientific secret to unlocking your child's full potential.* Earnest House Publishing.

<sup>84</sup> A Delicate Balance: Music Education in Canadian Schools (2010). Report prepared for the Coalition for Music Education in Canada by Hill Strategies Research, Canada

Acknowledgement: the research summaries in 'The Research on the Benefits of Music Education' and 'Best Practice in Music Education' have been adapted from the Music Education Strategy 2018 by Dr Anita Collins for the South Australian Department of Education.



CONTACT:

Ingrid Albert Executive Director, Alberts E: ialbert@alberts.co T: (02) 9232 2144 Level 7, 175 Macquarie Street Sydney NSW 2000